THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S. Jackson Kimball, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2016-002060

Quarter Pointe Ventures, LLC Respondent,

v.

James Lineberger Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jeremy D. Melville
SC Bar No. 77473
W. Mark White
SC Bar No. 7016
SPENCER & SPENCER, P.A.
226 East Main Street
Rock Hill, SC 29731
Phone: (803) 327-7191

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

JUL 20 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. CAN QPV'S PROPOSED CONVEYANCE OF ONLY A 50% INTEREST IN THE SMALL TRACT BE USED AS THE BASIS FOR DETERMINING LINEBERGER'S RIGHT TO ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION FOR THE SMALL TRACT UNDER THE BUYOUT AGREEMENT?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE SMALL TRACT DOES NOT EXCEED \$1,000,000.00?
- III. CAN QPV'S PROPOSED CONVEYANCE OF ONLY A 50% INTEREST IN THE RIGHT-OF-WAY AREA BE USED AS THE BASIS FOR LIMITING LINEBERGER'S RIGHT TO ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION FOR THE RIGHT-OF-WAY AREA UNDER THE BUYOUT AGREEMENT?
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ORDERING THAT LINEBERGER FILE A SATISFACTION OF MORTGAGE WHERE FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS SECURED BY THE MORTGAGE UNDER THE BUYOUT AGREEMENT REMAIN OUTSTANDING?
- V. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN SUSPENDING INTEREST ON AMOUNTS DUE LINEBERGER WHERE QPV'S TENDER WAS CONDITIONAL AND THE BASIS FOR LINEBERGER'S REFUSAL WAS REASONABLE AND IN GOOD FAITH?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 26, 2015 Quarter Pointe Ventures, LLC ("Quarter Pointe") filed a declaratory judgment action in the Court of Common Pleas for York County seeking a declaration that a proposed conveyance of real property from QPV to an entity in which QPV holds a 50% ownership interest is a "sale" for purposes of establishing compensation owed to Lineberger under a Buyout Agreement and seeking satisfaction of a Mortgage held by Lineberger.

Lineberger filed an Answer to the Complaint. In the Answer Lineberger asserted among other things, that the amount of compensation offered by QPV does not comply with the terms

of the Buyout Agreement, that the Mortgage remains valid security for QPV's remaining obligations to Lineberger, and that QPV has violated the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. (Answer, R.pp. 42-45.)

On April 14, 2016, a hearing on QPV's declaratory judgment action was held before the Honorable S. Jackson Kimball, III. At the hearing the Court received evidence into the record. Christopher Barton, one of QPV's remaining three members, testified on behalf of QPV. (Trial Transcript, R.p. 59, line 22 - p. 60, line 3.) Lineberger testified on his own behalf.

After the hearing, the trial court requested supplemental briefing from the parties. Both parties submitted post-trial briefs.

On July 28, 2016 the trial court entered an Order for Judgment against Lineberger. (Order, R.pp. 5-6.)

Appellant filed a timely motion with the trial court pursuant to Rule 52(a), SCRCP, seeking to alter or amend the Order. On August 23, 2016 a hearing was held on Appellant's Motion to Amend before the Honorable S. Jackson Kimball, III. By Form 4 Order entered on August 31, 2016, the trial court denied Appellant's motion.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

QPV was formed on August 8, 2006 by Lineberger, Christopher R. Barton, Meverell L. Pence, Jr., and Roger L. Pence, each having a 25% interest in QPV. (Order, R.p. 2.) QPV was formed for the purpose of acquiring, developing and selling a parcel of real property located in York County, South Carolina. (Trial Transcript, R.p. 60, line 6 - p. 63, line 17, R.p. 153, line 24 - p. 154, line 5.)

The real property acquired by QPV consists of three sub-parts which are material to this action: a parcel containing approximately 14 acres, York County Tax Parcel # 020-12-01-190 ("Large Tract"), a parcel measuring approximately 1.665 acres, York County Tax Parcel # 020-12-01-189 ("Small Tract"), and strips of land on the border of the Small Tract which are marked in gray and designated as "Right of Way by Maintenance" on a plat prepared by ESP Associates, P.A. ("ESP Plat") which is recorded Plat Book E311, Page 3 in the York County Register of Deeds Office (collectively, "Right-of-Way Area") (Plaintiff Ex. 20A, R.p. 271).¹

The Right-of-Way Area are strips of land within the property and bordering the Small Tract. The Right-of-Way Area are currently controlled by York County for roadway purposes,

¹ Through out the record the Right-of-Way Area are referred to as "ROW", "gray Area," "R/W" and "ransom strips". These all refer to the same shaded area designated as Right of Way by Maintenance on the ESP Plat (Plaintiff Ex. 20A, R.p. 271.)

but may be abandoned, in whole or in part, by York County. (Def. Ex. 7, R.p. 455; Trial Trans., R.p. 141, line 5 - p. 146, line 14.) The acreage of the Right-of-Way Area is separate and independent from the acreage of the Large Tract and Small Tract. (Plaintiff Ex. 20A, R.p. 271.)

Sale of Large Tract/Buyout Agreement

In or about 2013 QPV entered into negotiations with MPV Properties, LLC ("MPV Properties") to form a joint venture for development of the Large Tract. (Trial Trans., R.p. 64, line 13 - p. 65, line 18, R.p. 72, line 21 - p. 73, line 5.) Lineberger was uncomfortable with this proposed joint venture with MPV Properties and began negotiations with the other three members of QPV for an agreement that would allow QPV to proceed with the joint venture with MPV Properties on the Large Tract, while allowing Lineberger to maintain an interest with respect to the development and sale of the Small Tract. (Trial Trans., R.p. 157, line 7 - p. 158, line 2.) Lineberger and QPV executed a Membership Buyout Agreement ("Buyout Agreement") dated March 17, 2015 (Trial Trans., R.p. 75, lines 1-16.) On or about the time of executing the Buyout Agreement, QPV and MPV Properties formed a new entity - Doby's Bridge Investors, LLC - to purchase the Large Tract from QPV for \$2.6 million. (Trial Trans., R.p. 64, line 18 - p. 65, line 12.)

Agreement between QPV and Lineberger

The Buyout Agreement unambiguously sets forth the formula for determining the compensation to be paid by QPV to Lineberger for his interest in QPV. (Buyout Agreement, p. 1., R.p. 15.) In establishing the valuation of Lineberger's interest, the Buyout Agreement independently addresses each of the three portions of the property held by QPV (Large Tract, the Small Tract, and Right-of-Way Area).

With respect to the sale of the Large Tract, Lineberger would receive compensation as follows. Lineberger agreed to a cash payment of \$320,000.00 and to accept a promissory note ("Note") from QPV for the balance of the amount owed to him for his interest in the conveyance of the Large Tract. (Trial Trans., R.p. 68, line 4 - p. 71, line 21, R.p. 74, line 16 - p. 75, line 16.) Under the Note payments were to commence on March 2, 2017. (Note, ¶ 3, R.p. 21.) Lineberger's intention in not demanding payment in full and in delaying payments under the Note was to allow QPV to maintain funds for payments on the underlying loan issued to QPV for the property and to allow QPV time to maximize the value that may be received upon sale of the Small Tract. (Trial Trans., R.p. 162, lines 5-14.)

With respect to the Small Tract, Lineberger was to receive compensation as follows. The Buyout Agreement states

that "[QPV] has plans to sell the [Small Tract], but cannot anticipate the future sales price for the [Small Tract]." (Buyout Agreement, p. 1, R.p. 15.) Therefore, QPV and Lineberger agreed upon a formula whereby Lineberger would receive \$250,000.00, to be included as part of the Note, plus a 25% interest in the profits realized upon a sale in excess of \$1,000,000.00. (Buyout Agreement, ¶ 3, R.p. 16; Trial Trans., R.p. 71, line 17 - p. 72, line 9.) The Buyout Agreement specifically provides as follows: "In addition to the full repayment of the Note including interest upon the sale of the [Small Tract], if the sale of the [Small Tract] produces a net profit over One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00), [QPV] further agrees to compensate Lineberger for 25% of such net profits over One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00). . . . This is additional compensation to Lineberger over and above the Cash Payment and full repayment of the Note." (Buyout Agreement, ¶ 3, R.p. 16.)

With respect to the Right-of-Way Area, Lineberger was to receive compensation as follows. The Buyout Agreement provides that "[i]f [QPV] receives any additional compensation for the ROW or additional property for the [Small Tract], [QPV] agrees to compensate Lineberger for 25% of the additional compensation received from York County or other governmental entity . . . or other purchaser. . . . [QPV]

shall not deed any portion of the ROW for its own gain without compensation to Lineberger. This is additional compensation to Lineberger over and above the Cash Payment and full repayment of the Note." (Buyout Agreement, ¶ 5, R.p. 16.)

Mortgage Securing Obligations Under Buyout Agreement

As security for QPV's payment of compensation for Lineberger's membership interest, QPV executed a Mortgage dated March 16, 2015 ("Mortgage") in favor of Lineberger. The Mortgage encumbers the Small Tract and the Right of Way Area, collectively. (Mortgage, Ex. "A", R.p. 41.) Article 1 of the Mortgage provides that "[t]he obligations secured by this Mortgage (the "Secured Obligations") are as follows: Payment of all indebtedness and the performance of all obligations of [QPV] under the Note and this Mortgage including payment of all sums due and owing to [Lineberger] hereunder, together with interest thereon and performance of all obligations under the Membership Buyout Agreement." (Mortgage, § 1.01, R.pp. 32-33.) Accordingly the Mortgage secures the payment of QPV's obligations under the Note, Mortgage and the Buyout Agreement. (Trial Trans., R.p. 180, lines 10-17; Mortgage, § 1.01, R.pp. 32-33.)

Marketing the Small Tract After Buyout Agreement

Lineberger testified that he and the other members initially valued the Small Tract at around \$1,400,000.00 to

\$1,500,000.00. (Trial Trans., R.p. 175, line 11 - p. 176, line 15.) QPV had marketed the Small Tract with an asking price of \$1,400,000.00. (Trial Trans., R.p. 140, lines 6-16, R.p. 162, lines 15-21.)

On March 24, 2015 QPV received an initial offer from Durban Acquisitions, LLC ("Durban") to purchase the Small Tract for \$1,100,000.00. (Trial Trans., R.p. 88, line 18 - p. 39, line 17; Def. Ex. 1, R.pp. 441-449.) QPV summarily dismissed the offer without negotiation. (Trial Trans., R.p. 89, lines 1-17; R.p. 176, lines 3-15.)

On or about July 7, 2015, a second prospective purchaser, Barnes Development Company ("Barnes") made an initial offer to purchase the Small Tract, for \$1,100,000.00. (Def. Ex. 10, R.p. 465; Def. Ex. 18, R.pp. 478-480.) Yet again QPV summarily dismissed the offer without negotiation. (Trial Trans., R.p. 176, lines 3-15.)

As it turned out, QPV had its motivations for not negotiating with prospective purchasers.

Joint Venture and QPV's Conflict of Interest

As described above, QPV owns a one-half interest in the Large Tract in a joint venture with MPV Properties. Christopher Barton, testifying on behalf of QPV, testified that, Harris Teeter had expressed interest in establishing a location on the Large Tract. (Trial Trans., R.p. 138, line 12

- p. 139, line 18; Def. Ex. 22, R.p. 484.) QPV and MPV Properties were concerned that a third-party purchaser of the Small Tract could develop the Small Tract in such a way to compete with the plans for the Large Tract. (Trial Trans., R.p. 112, line 18 - p. 114, line 8; Def. Ex. 2, R.p. 450; Def. Ex. 23, R.pp. 485-486.) For example, a third-party purchaser could develop the Small Tract for use as the site of a convenience store, an ideal use given the location of the Small Tract. (Trial Trans., R.p. 170, line 22 - p. 171, line 4.) Despite the fact that prospective purchasers were *beginning* negotiations with an initial offer of \$1,100,000.00 for the Small Tract (and not including the Right-of-Way Area), QPV testified that it dismissed negotiations with these interested purchasers because "they represent a lot of clients that do supermarkets and grocery stores." (Trial Trans., R.p. 89, lines 19-21.)

Rather than attempt to market the Small Tract, QPV began discussions with MPV Properties to form another joint venture whereby they would purchase the Small Tract and control its development so as to protect their interest in the Large Tract. QPV agreed to sell 50% of its interest in the Small Tract to MPV Properties. (Trial Trans., R.p. 148, lines 11-12.) As a vehicle to accomplish this transfer, QPV and MPV Properties formed a new entity, DB2 Associates, LLC ("DB2

Associates"). (Def. Ex. 5, R.p. 453; Plaintiff Ex. 39A, R.pp. 283-352.) QPV and MPV Properties each hold a 50% interest in DB2 Associates.

QPV and MPV Properties agreed as follows: DB2 Associates would purchase the Small Tract for \$1,000,000.00. MPV Properties would contribute \$500,000.00 to QPV for a 50% undivided interest in the Small Tract. Upon sale or development of the Small Tract, MPV would get the first \$500,000.00 and QPV would get the next \$500,000.00. QPV and MPV Properties agreed to split all profits equally thereafter. (Def. Ex. 4, R.p. 452; Trial Trans., R.p. 93, line 1 - p. 45, line 22.)

At some point in the negotiations between QPV and MPV Properties, QPV agreed to include the Right-of-Way Area in the total property to be conveyed to DB2 Associates. (Trial Trans., R.p. 122, line 15 - p. 123, line 24, R.p. 129, line 2 - p. 130, line 14, R.p. 178, line 11 - p. 179, line 5; Def. Ex. 8, R.pp. 459-463; Def. Ex. 11, R.p. 466; Def. Ex. 17, R.pp. 475-477.) Some of the Right-of-Way Area was included as part of the \$1,000,000.00 valuation of the Small Tract. (Def. Ex. 8, R.pp. 459, 462; Def. Ex. 11, R.p. 466.) QPV and MPV

Properties attributed a value of \$209,316.00² to the remaining portion of Right of Way Area. (Def. Ex. 8, R.p. 461.)

In total, DB2 Associates was paying consideration of \$1,209,316.00 for the Small Tract and the Right-of-Way Area, collectively. (Trial Trans., R.p. 118, line 1 - p. 119, line 3.) Per the Affidavit of Consideration and Substitute Form 1099-C prepared by QPV in anticipation of the closing, QPV was to receive a total of \$604,658.00 for 50% of its interest in the Small Tract and Right-of-Way Area (Trial Trans., R.p. 105, line 20 - p. 106, line 17, R.p. 115, line 25 - p. 117, line 16, R.p. 124, line 6 - p. 127, line 2, R.p. 133, line 25 - p. 135, line 1; Def. Ex. 8, R.pp. 460-61; Def. Ex. 13, R.pp. 470-71; Def. Ex. 14, R.p. 472.)

On July 27, 2015, QPV notified Lineberger's attorney that they "have a potential purchaser for the [Small Tract] and need a payoff for Mr. Lineberger's Note - effective August 3, 2015." (Def. Ex. 9, R.p. 464.) In this same exchange QPV further represented that "[t]he Purchase Price is less than a million dollars" and that "[t]he County has not released the R/W to my client and still contends it is government property, so no additional monies are expected." (Id.) Lineberger was not given notice or otherwise made aware that QPV intended to

² This valuation was determined based off the Small Tract's \$1,000,000 valuation and converted to a per square foot figure which was applied to the square footage of the Right-of-Way Area. (Trial Trans., R.p. 127, line 3 - p. 128, line 1; Def. Ex. 8. fn. 1-2, R.p. 461.)

convey the Right-of-Way Area as part of the proposed conveyance to DB2 Associates. (Trial Trans., R.p. 179, lines 6-12, R.p. 132, lines 11-21.)

Despite the fact that QPV would continue to own a 50% interest in the property and would be conveying the Right-of-Way Area for valuable consideration, QPV contended that its obligations under the Buyout Agreement would be satisfied simply upon payoff of the Note. (Trial Trans., R.p. 106, lines 9-17; R.p. 179, lines 6-12, R.p. 182, lines 11-21.) QPV's offer was conditioned on satisfaction of the mortgage and potentially Lineberger's waiver of rights to additional compensation under the Buyout Agreement. Lineberger properly rejected QPV's offer.

ARGUMENT

I. QPV'S PROPOSED CONVEYANCE OF ONLY A 50% INTEREST IN THE SMALL TRACT CANNOT BE USED AS THE BASIS FOR DETERMINING LINEBERGER'S RIGHT TO ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION UNDER THE BUYOUT AGREEMENT

Under the Buyout Agreement Lineberger is entitled to compensation for three distinct items. First, Lineberger is entitled to payment of amounts due under the Promissory Note in the principal amount of \$395,000.00. (Buyout Agreement, ¶ 2, R.p. 16.) Second, Lineberger is entitled to 25% of the "net profits" on proceeds in excess of \$1,000,000.00 from the sale of the Small Tract. (Buyout Agreement, ¶ 3, R.p. 16.) Third, Lineberger is entitled to "25% of the compensation

received from York County or other governmental entity . . . or other purchaser" for the Right-of-Way Area (Buyout Agreement, ¶ 5, R.pp. 16-17.)

Triggering this action is the proposed conveyance of the Small Tract and Right-of-Way Area (collectively, "Subject Property") by QPV to DB2 Associates, LLC ("DB2 Associates"). This conveyance is not an arm's length transaction. DB2 Associates is a limited liability company in which QPV has a 50% interest. MPV Properties holds the other 50% interest in DB2 Associates. In the proposed conveyance, QPV will effectively be conveying a 50% interest in the Subject Property to MPV Properties.

Despite the fact that QPV would only be conveying 50% of its interest in the property, QPV argues that this conveyance is a legitimate means to extinguish Lineberger's right to additional compensation under the Buyout Agreement. QPV's position lacks support under the plain language of the Buyout Agreement and applicable law.

Just as QPV could not avoid this obligation by transferring 100% interest in the Small Tract to a strawman, QPV can not avoid its obligations to Lineberger by an inside transfer of a 50% interest to MPV Properties. The remaining members of QPV cannot continue to gain net profits in the Small Tract while cutting out Lineberger's right to receive

his share of the net profits per the Buyout Agreement. This bad act is compounded exponentially by their decision to value the transfer for less than the value of initial offers made by disinterested third parties.

A. Express Language of Buyout Agreement

"If [a contract's] language is plain, unambiguous, and capable of only one reasonable interpretation, no construction is required and the contract's language determines the instrument's force and effect." Lee v. Univ. of S.C., 407 S.C. 512, 517-18, 757 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2014). "Generally, where an agreement is clear and capable of legal construction, the court's only function is to interpret its lawful meaning and the intent of the parties as found within the agreement." Miles v. Miles, 393 S.C. 111, 117, 711 S.E.2d 880, 883 (2011) (internal citations omitted).

Paragraph 3 of the Buyout Agreement plainly states that Lineberger is entitled to 25% of "net profits" from the sale of the Small Tract in excess of \$1,000,000. It strains credulity to argue that the plain and ordinary meaning of "sale," without any further qualifying language, encompasses a conveyance of less than a complete interest in property. Moreover, the determination of the existence or amount of "net profits" for the Small Tract is impossible until QPV has conveyed its entire interest in the Small Tract.

B. Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing

Looking beyond the express language of the Buyout Agreement, South Carolina courts instill an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing into contracts reasons presented by this case.

"Under South Carolina law, there exists in every contract an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing." Shelton v. Oscar Mayer Foods Corp., 319 S.C. 81, 91, 459 S.E.2d 851, 857 (Ct. App. 1995) (emphasis in original); Boddie-Noell Properties, Inc. v. 42 Magnolia P'ship, 344 S.C. 474, 484, 544 S.E.2d 279, 284 (Ct. App. 2000).

A contract includes not only what is expressly stated but also what is necessarily to be implied from the language used and external facts, such as the surrounding circumstances; and terms which may clearly be implied from a consideration of the entire contract are as much a part thereof as though plainly written on its face.

In the absence of an express provision therefor, the law will imply an agreement by the parties to a contract to do and perform those things that according to reason and justice they should do in order to carry out the purpose for which the contract was made.

Commercial Credit Corp. v. Nelson Motors, Inc., 247 S.C. 360, 367, 147 S.E.2d 481, 484 (1966).

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