THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S. Jackson Kimball, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2016-002060

Quarter Point Ventures, LLC.....Respondent,

v.

James Lineberger.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Matthew E. Cox
SC Bar No. 16603
Matthew E. Cox, LLC
1320 Main Street, Suite 300
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
803-724-1320
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENTS

I. The Master-in-Equity's Findings of Facts are supported by Evidence.

Appellant has set forth its own Statement of Facts that differ from the Findings of Fact from the Trial Court. The Master-in-Equity found the following Facts in its July 28, 2016 Order, which are supported by Evidence and should be affirmed.

1. Company History

Respondent Quarter Pointe Ventures, LLC ("QPV") is a South Carolina limited liability company owning real property in York County. (R. p. 59, line 17–p. 60, line 19). Appellant James Lineberger ("Lineberger") is a resident of Union County, North Carolina and former member of QPV. (R. p. 152, lines 19 – 20). On or about August 8, 2006, QPV was formed to own and acquire real estate located in York County off Doby's Bridge Road (Property) in York County. (R. p. 60, lines 1 – 19). Members of QPV were Christopher R. Barton (25% interest), Meverell L. Pence, Jr. (25% interest), Roger L. Pence (25% interest) and James Lineberger (25% interest). (R. p. 60 lines 9-17); (R. p. 156, lines 3-8).

2. ROW and Closing of the Large Tract

On December 3, 2012, a portion of the Property was taken by York County for a road way and right of way, for which QPV was compensated. (R. p. 61, lines 8-11); (R. p. 62, line 8); (R. p. 63, lines 9-19); (R. p. 279, Ex 28A, schedule B). In February 2015, QPV was the maker of a note secured by a mortgage on the Property, which was in

arrears with Park Sterling Bank. (R. p. 60, lines 20-25); (R. p. 64, lines 1-10). Prior to any foreclosure action, QPV negotiated a partial sale of a portion of the Property, namely a one-half interest in approximately fourteen acres ("Large Tract"), with Merrifield Patrick Vermillion ("MPV") out of Charlotte, North Carolina. (R. p. 64, line 11 – p. 65, line 12); (R. p. 75, line 23-p. 76, line 8). Lineberger opted to take money and a Note to have his membership interest bought out of QPV, rather than to continue as a member of QPV and move forward with any future development. (R. p. 65, lines 13-23; p. 156, lines 3-15); (R. pp. 406 – 411, Ex. 55); (R. pp. 418-423, Ex. 57).

During a survey for the closing of the Large Tract with MPV, it was determined that York County took more of the Property than QPV believed it was compensated for by the County, due to designated Right of Way ("ROW" property). (R. p.55, line 10 – p. 57, line 1); (R. p. 272, Ex. 22). Prior to closing the Large Tract, QPV agreed to a buyout of all membership interest of Lineberger pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Agreement executed on March 16 and March 17, 2015. (R. p. 75, lines 8-16); (R. pp. 406 – 411, Ex. 55); R. pp. 418-423, Ex. 57). The Agreement provided for Lineberger to receive money, to take a Note for the balance owed, and to potentially be compensated, if future monies were realized from the ROW property. (R. p. 418, paragraph 5, Ex. 57).

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Agreement, a one-half interest in the Large Tract was sold for \$1,300,000.00 to MPV, and following that both QPV and MPV placed their interest into a newly created LLC, Doby's Bridge Investors, LLC. (R. p. 72, line 21-p. 73, line 14). At the Large Tract closing, the Company paid off the note to Park Sterling Bank and transferred a one-half interest to MPV. (R. p. 74, line 16-p. 75, line 7); (R. pp. 29 – 30, Ex. C to Complaint); (R. pp. 428 – 429, Ex. 59). Lineberger received

\$320,000.00 cash from the \$500,000.00 in proceeds from the Large Tract closing, pursuant to the Statement of Distributions. (R. pp. 29 – 30, Ex. C to Complaint); (R. pp. 428 – 429, Ex. 59). He also received a Note in the amount of \$395,000.00, representing his balance due on the Large Tract, and a guaranteed payment on the remaining smaller tract, containing 1.6 acres (“Small Tract”), also owned by QPV. (R. p. 70, line 5-p. 72, line 20); (R. pp. 15 - 24, Ex. A to Complaint); (R. pp. 424 - 427, Ex. 58).

The Small Tract was used as collateral (“Collateral”) for the Note to Lineberger. (R. p. 70, line 5-p. 72, line 20); (R. pp. 15 - 24, Ex. A to Complaint); (R. pp. 424 - 427, Ex. 58). Lineberger also had the potential to receive 25% of portions of the Small Tract designated as Right of Ways (“ROW”), in hopes that the government would abandon the ROW and leave QPV free to sell the ROW unencumbered. (R. pp. 25-28, Ex. B to Complaint); (R. pp. 418-427, Ex. 57).

Testimony by both parties was that the likelihood of the County or the South Carolina Department of Transportation abandoning the ROW to QPV was slight at best and the likelihood of any recovery unknown. (R. p. 143, line 3-p. 146, line 14); (R. p. 163, line 7 - p. 164 line 16); (R. p. 272, Ex. 22). The amount of the Note to Lineberger from QPV was derived by estimating that the net sale from the Small Tract would gross a million dollars. (R. p. 71, line 7-p. 72, line 22). If it did not, QPV would bear the risk, as it was obligated for a net \$250,000.00 to Lineberger. (R. p. 72, lines 3-17). Thus \$145,000.00 of the Note represented the balance owed to Lineberger for his interest from the sale of the Large Tract and \$250,000.00, based upon anticipated proceeds of the sale of the Smaller Tract, secured by the Mortgage. (R. p. 71, line 7-p. 72, line 22).

QPV fully paid Lineberger the \$320,000.00 at the closing of the Large Tract, and executed the Agreement and the Note, and recorded the Mortgage. (R. p. 74, line 16-p. 75, line 7); (R. pp. 29 – 30, Ex. C to Complaint); (R. pp. 428 – 429, Ex. 59). Lineberger received copies of the closing documents and the recorded Mortgage, recorded in Book 14842, Page 19, in the York County Clerk of Court's Office. (R. pp. 31-41, Ex. D to Complaint); (R. pp. 430-440, Ex. 60). In addition to the payment and the Note, the Membership Buyout Agreement provided that if the remaining Property sold and produced a net profit of over One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00), QPV would further compensate Lineberger for 25% of such net profits. (R. p. 180, lines 10-17); (R. pp. 25 - 28, Ex. B to Complaint); (R. pp. 418 - 427, Ex. 57). Furthermore, QPV agreed that if it received any additional compensation or return of property from York County for the ROW, another government entity or another company, that the Company would pay to Lineberger 25% of the additional compensation. (R. pp. 25 - 28, Ex. B to Complaint); (R. pp. 418 - 427, Ex. 57). QPV agreed to not restrict or encumber the Property until the Note was paid in full, and to give Lineberger notice of any sale. (R. pp. 25 - 28, Ex. B to Complaint); (R. pp. 418 - 427, Ex. 57).

3. The Dispute

On or about July 27, 2015, QPV noticed Lineberger that it was going to sell the Small Tract and requested a payoff of the Note. (R. p. 280). On July 31, 2015, Lineberger, through counsel provided a payoff of the Note and a per diem interest amount. (R. p. 281). On August 6, 2015, the purchaser requested additional time to perform due diligence. On August 12, 2015, the purchaser agreed to go forward with the transaction, resulting in same or similar arrangement as prior, in that QPV would sell

one-half interest in the property to MPV, and transfer its other one-half into a new entity, DB2 Associates, LLC for \$1 million dollars¹. (R. p. 398, Ex. 47); (R. p. 353, Ex. 41); (R. p. 355 – p. 374, 41A); (R. p. 375 – p. 388 , 41B); (R. p. 389, 41C); (R. p. 391 – p. 394, 41D); (R. p. 395, 41E).

Closing was set for August 15, 2015. (R. p. 111, lines 14-24). QPV requested Lineberger execute a Satisfaction of Mortgage that was to be held by the closing attorney in trust. (R. p. 404 - p. 405, Ex. 52). Lineberger refused to provide a Satisfaction of Mortgage and stated through counsel that the transaction was not a sale for fair market value. (R. p. 107, line 18 – p. 111, line 7). Further, he stated that the Mortgage would not be Satisfied until the property was sold and 25% of net profits over a million were paid to him, and any proceeds from the ROW at a future date and time. (R. p. 107, line 18-p. 111, line 7). However, he said that he would accept the payment of the Note without releasing or satisfying the Mortgage. (R. p. 193, lines 8-25).

II. The Trial Court correctly found as a matter of law that the proposed transaction was a sell.

The transaction for the small tract contemplated by QPV and MPV was the same as the Large Tract. In fact the mechanic's were the same, in both instances a new entity was created, QPV received money for one-half of the purchase price and contributed its

¹ QPV showed the sale of the main tract was for \$1,000,000.00 showing \$500,000.00 in proceeds to the Company. QPV also has an agreement with MPV for the ROW. Such agreement is contingent upon abandonment of the ROW by government and no monies were to trade hands. Pursuant to the Operating Agreement between QPV and MPV, each entity would hold a ½ interest in the new LLC, with an adjusted tax basis of \$1,000,000 in the real property. Additionally, the ROW areas would be valued at \$209,316, with such funds not being paid, but a future payment if the ROW were abandoned by the government. Otherwise the ROW would revert of 100% back to the Company if not abandoned by July 31, 2018 and QPV's capital account would be adjusted. (Pl. Ex. 39, schedule 5.1, footnotes 1 and 2, bates 282).

remaining one-half interest into the new entity. Appellant's current position begs the question of why the transaction was a sale for the Large Tract, but not a sale for the Small Tract. The transaction would be no different than if QPV sold the real property to an MPV created entity and then took half of their proceeds and purchased a one-half interest in the new entity.

Shortly after signing the Membership Buyout Agreement, Appellant had buyer's remorse. He left the Company and now regrets it. Almost immediately after receiving his agreed upon payment from the Large Tract sale, he refused to provide the original Notice of Dissociation, making demands. (R. pp. 254-258; pp. 265-269).

Essentially, Appellant would like to exercise control over QPV and benefit if QPV makes any additional money from investing in development, all without investing any of his own money or having any risk in the new entity, after taking his money out. (R. p. 107, line 23-p. 111, line 7). As my grandmother would say, Appellant would like to have his cake and eat it too.

These transactions are recognized by the Internal Revenue Service and are denoted as a "disguised sale" pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 707. Section 707(a)(2)(B) provides that if there is a direct or indirect transfer of money or other property by a partner to a partnership, a related direct or indirect transfer of money or other property by the partnership to such a partner, and the transfers, when taken together, are properly characterized as a sale or exchange of property, then such transfers shall be treated as a transaction between the partnership and one who is not a partner. In other words, it will be treated as a sale rather than a contribution and distribution. See 1992 WL 1466104 (IRS FSA). While QPV will only be taxed on its on-half interest, the total sale would be

the combination of the total value of the real property, One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00) for the Small Tract. (R. pp. 283-352, Ex. 39A).

III. The Trial Court correctly found that the property was to be sold at Fair Market Value.

Appellant takes great lengths to argue and retry the case by citing selective portions of the transcript that he contends shows that QPV engaged in bad faith, self-dealing and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. However, these were not the factual findings of the Trial Court. (R. pp. 2-4, July 28, 2016 Order pp. 2-4).

Appellant argues that winding up provisions of the Limited Liability Act should apply to Respondent. Appellant is simply wrong as a matter of law. The trial court correctly found that the pivotal issue was whether the Small Tract was sold at fair market value (R. p. 240, line 19-p. 242, line 5). The trial court found that it was. (R. p. 5, July 28, 2016 Order p. 5). More importantly, Appellant offered no evidence by way of appraisal or any expert testimony that the One Million Dollar (\$1,000,000.00) sale price was below fair market value. Rather, Appellant bases his contention on two offers by the same broker, with the same terms that would effectively tie up the property for 9 months and no guarantee that the Property would be purchased. (R. p. 138, line 19-p. 139, line 21); (R. p. 147, line 5-p. 148, line 24). As articulated by Appellant at trial, he was in no hurry for the Property to be sold. (R. p. 190, line 12-p. 193, line 7).

Appellant also argues that the contingency in the contract between Respondent and MPV for the ROW was improper, establishing a value of \$209,316.00 between those parties with \$52,329.00 representing 25% to Appellant, if abandoned, was an error. (R. p. 5, July 28, 2016 Order p. 5, finding 4). While Appellant speculates about the value of the contingency, Appellant offered no credible value for the ROW. Moreover, the ROW is

not owned by QPV and can't legally be transferred or encumbered by QPV because it is not owned by QPV. Appellant's Mortgage less and excepts the ROW, because QPV couldn't give Appellant a Mortgage on property it did not own. (R. p. 109, line 18-p. 0111, line 7); (R. p. 258, bates 151).

Respondent using its business judgment opted to sell the Small Tract in the same manner it sold the Large Tract, which was acknowledged by the Appellant. (R. p. 190, line 12-p. 193, line 7). The fact that Respondent and its members opted to reinvest in the property is inconsequential to Appellant. Appellant argues this act was self-dealing, but offers no case law, but rather cites to a winding up statute under the Limited Liability Act. However, QPV was not winding up.

From the beginning, Appellant wanted to renegotiate the deal. (R. pp. 265-269, Ex. 20). He alleged that he should receive 25% of any gains from the development. (R. p. 108, line 1-p. 109, line 11). Appellant didn't care how long it took to sell the property, as he had interest accruing. QPV had other interest, namely eliminating the debt, which is a prudent business decision by a company. If Appellant had presented competent evidence that the property was worth Two Million, but only being sold for One Million, he would have an argument that there was self-dealing or bad faith. Assuming the property was sold at \$1.1 million, Appellant never provided any evidence that such a sale would have netted over a million in profits. Taxes, insurance, commissions, closing costs, and recording fees were never discussed or calculated by Appellant to show that he would have receive more than the minimum \$250,000.00 he was guaranteed under the Agreement.

The trial court correctly denied Appellant's Motion, as the evidence found by the trier of fact was that the property was sold at fair market value and Respondent's actions did not warrant a finding of bad faith, self-dealing or breach of any covenant. (R. pp. 7-8); (R. p. 240, line 19-p. 242, line 5).

IV. The Trial Court correctly found that the Mortgage should be satisfied upon the payment of the Note.

Appellant contends and argues that payment of the Note should not require the Satisfaction of the Mortgage. Appellant contends a contingent liability (recovery if the ROW is abandoned), is sufficient to allow the Mortgage to remain on the Small Tract.

S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-310 provides that a holder of a mortgage who has received full payment or satisfaction of the debt discharge or satisfy the Mortgage. A Note and a Mortgage are separate and distinct. While a Mortgage follows a Note, a Note does not follow a Mortgage. See generally S.C. Nat'l Bank v. Halter, 293 S.C. 121, 128, 359 S.E.2d 74, 77 (Ct.App.1987) ("The assignment of a mortgage as distinct from the debt it secures is nugatory and confers no right upon the transferee absent some indication that the parties also intended to transfer the debt."). Accordingly, language in the Mortgage does not create a debt. While the Mortgage describes additional obligations of the Agreement, the Note does not. The Note is the only evidence of actual debt.

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